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History

Guardian Park, located on Sandy Hook, New Jersey at the entrance to Fort Hancock, was
the last monument added to Fort Hancock by the U.S. Army. It isnamed for the Nike Air
Defense Missiles, which were the last “guardians’ of the New Y ork Metropolitan Area.
Ed Karnowski, areporter for the “Red Bank Daily Register,” described the layout of the
park in thisway:

“In the park...are actual but unarmed models of two NIKE missiles, one a Hercules, the
other aversion of the earlier Ajax variety. Beside themisasmall howitzer, signifying
the early use of conventional artillery as coastal defense guns. Across from the model
armamentsis agray marble memorial stone. On it are the names of six Army enlisted
men and four Ordinance Corps civilianskilled in a 1958 explosion at amissile sitein the

Chapel Hill section of Middletown.”

The thought behind constructing Guardian Park, according to Col. Victor J. Hugo,
Commander of the New Y ork-Philadel phia missile defenses, was to “ provide future
generations, especially the visitors to the Gateway Recreation Area, with the opportunity
to pause and reflect on the contributions that the 16™ Air Defense Artillery (ADA) and its
predecessors have made to this area and to the defense of the United States.” On August
15, 1974 ceremonies deactivating three of the Nike missile battalions, 3d Battalion, 43d
ADA-aregular Army Unit; the 1% Battalion, 244™ ADA- aNew York National Guard
Unit; 1% Battalion, 254™ ADA- aNew Jersey National unit, aswell as the headquarters of
the 16™ Air Defense Artillery Group were followed by the dedication of Guardian Park
“to the men and women of the New Y ork-Philadelphia Defense.”*

The effort of this report isto reconstruct the history of the two main building
periods of Guardian Park as well as document its current state, allowing for
recommendations for the restoration of the park. A previous study by Sandy Hook Unit
Park Rangers Thomas Hoffman and Michael Thomas of the southern portion of Fort
Hancock, as well as photographs and textural documentation from the Gateway National
Recreation Area Museum Collection and the Monmouth County Historical Association,
were the main sources used to create this report.

|. Nike Ajax Missile

The Nike Ajax Missile erected circa 19707, pre-dates Guardian Park. The Nike Ajax, the
smaller of the two missiles located at the south end of the cruciform walk in Guardian
Park, was the first Nike missile used between 1954 and 1959. The Nike Ajax was
mounted vertically atop a concrete, dirt-filled, square base by placing an I-beam in the
dirt and dliding the missile over the I-beam. The mounted portion of the Ajax was what
is referred to as the 2™ stage of the missile (the first stage being a booster rocket that was
affixed underneath the 2™ stage for launching).

! Quotes taken from “The Daily Register”, August 16, 1974.
2 According to Army Veteran Don Wood, who was stationed at Fort Hancock from 1970-1972.



The missile was painted several times between 1975 and 1990, during which time the
original black “U.S. Army” stenciling was painted over. It can still be seen under white
paint. The Nike Ajax’srusted | beam bent and caused the missile to fall during the
blizzard of March 1993 and is now located in museum storage awaiting conservation
work for its corroded body, (Catalog number GATE 12876). The Ajax’s concrete base
remains but without its original decorations. Each side of the base displayed a different
mounted, metal, painted insignia. Due to vandalism and environmental conditions, all of
the remaining movable items were removed and entered into the museum collection. At
the foot of the base on the north side, a brass plague atop a concrete base explained the
history of the Nike missiles, removed in November 1983 by rangers Fred Harmon and
Jack Freeman and entered into the museum collection, (Catalog number GATE 1664).

The insignia on the west side of the base was the Army Air Defense Command
(ARADCOM) Insignia. It consists of ared and yellow shield with a Nike missile and
lightening bolts. Thiswas removed in 1983, by rangers Harmon and Freeman, entered
the museum collection and currently displayed in the Fort Hancock Museum, (Catalog
number GATE 1659).

The south side insigniawas that of the 52" ADA Brigade. Their motto “Vigilant and
Ready” is displayed on ametal square with symbols similar to the ARADCOM insignia
and is also displayed in the Fort Hancock Museum (Catalog number GATE 1658)

The north side bore the insignia of the Army Ground Forces. Thisinsigniawas ared,
white and blue circle. Theinsigniawas found bent into a“u” shape, lying on top of the
base. Park rangers believe that vandals were trying to pull the insignia off the base but
were unsuccessful. Park Historian, Tom Hoffman retrieved the insigniaand it is now
located in museum storage, (Catalog number GATE 1665).

The east side insigniawas that of the 51% ADA. Their motto was “Fire for Effect” with a
caterpillar on the crest. Thissign was removed by vandals.

[1.1974 Fort Hancock Deactivation Plan

Planning for the deactivation of Fort Hancock led the army to build the rest of the major
parts of Guardian Park. The first portion of the plan created two sidewalks: one oriented
north-south and the other east-west, forming a cross (LCS 41291).> At each end of the
sidewalks a different piece of the park was constructed. They are as follows:

1. A Nike Hercules Missile, 2" stage section, is mounted vertically at the center
of the cruciform-walks (LCS 41289, Catalog number GATE 12921). This
type of missile was used from 1959-1974. On the north ground near the
missile was a low concrete base with a brass plaque explaining the history of
the Nike Hercules missile. Rangers Harmon and Freeman removed the plaque
in November 1983 (catalog number GATE 1663).

3 According to Lou Hansen, acivilian employee of the Fort Hancock Post Engineers Office Maintenance
Staff, the late Steve Fowler, made the concrete sidewalks. Hisinitials are in the sidewalk.



Between 1975 and 1990 the Nike Hercules Missile was painted several times
by the Sandy Hook Maintenance Division. During this time the Maintenance
Division painted over the original black “U.S. Army” stenciling. The stencil
can still be seen underneath the white paint.

The nose cone of the Nike Hercules Missile fell in a severe thunderstorm on
August 10, 1979. A replacement nose cone was put on the missile c. 1980-
1981 through the efforts of the 54™ Explosive Ordnance Detachment, Fort
Monmouth, NJ. The original nose coneis currently in museum storage
(Catalog number GATE 12940).

2. Atthenorthtip of the cruciform sidewalk, between the Hercules Missile and
the entrance to Guardian Park, the Army erected alarge metal flagpole. Onits
north side alow concrete base with a brass plaque affixed explained the
history of Guardian Park (Catalog number GATE 634). The plague reads.

“Dedicated to the Men and Women of the New Y ork-Philadelphia Defense.

The New Y ork-Philadel phia defense, initially established as separate defenses,
provided terminal air defense for the metropolitan areas as an integral part of the
Army Air Defense Command and the North American Air Defense Command.
Upon its activation in 1950, the defense was armed with 90mm and 120 mm
anti-aircraft guns and the 75mm “ Skysweeper”, the Nike-Ajax missile, the first
generation of surface to air missiles entered on the U.S. inventory and was
deployed throughout the defense in 1953. 1n 1959, the second-generation
missile, the Nike-Hercules, replaced the Nike-Ajax. The separate defenses were
combined in 1961, and remained the “Vigilant Guardians’ of the Northeast. The
New Y ork-Philadel phia defense, the last defense in the Army Air Defense

Command, was inactivated in August 1974.”

The flagpole was removed ¢.1976-1979 by Sandy Hook Maintenance Division
and believed to have been remounted somewhere else on Sandy Hook. Rangers
Harmon and Freeman removed the plaque in 1983 and it entered the museum
collection and is currently missing. The plaque’ s concrete base is now missing.

3. A 75mm Pack Howitzer was mounted on the east slab of the east-west
sidewalk. The Pack Howitzer, placed on site in 1974 remained until ¢.1977-78
when Army personnel from Fort Monmouth removed the gun.*

4. Atthewest end of the walks the Army re-erected the upright granite
monument, dedicated to the men killed in the May 22, 1958 Nike Ajax
explosion at Nike Base NY 53, located in the Chapel Hill Section of
Middletown, NJ. Two concrete missiles accompanied the monument, and
were approximately 5 feet in height (LCS41290). The concrete missiles were
both were vandalized, one was broken off its base and the other was removed

* Thisinformation is taken from the 1993 study of the southern portion of Fort Hancock by Thomas
Hoffman and Michagl Thomas. Park Ranger Hoffman writes, “according to Park Ranger Fred Harmon,
Army Personnel showed up in ajeep from Fort Monmouth, hitched up the gun and drove off with it”.



by Sandy Hook Maintenance staff, but itslocation is currently unknown. The
monument was privately commissioned and paid for by the men who worked
with the victims of the explosion. The missiles were crafted by a stonemason
who worked at Fort Wadsworth, New York. This stonemason formerly
worked with the four civilians killed in the explosion.” The monument
originally stood in front of the Headquarters Building at the Missile Launch
Areain Middletown, New Jersey, where eight Nike Ajax Missiles exploded in
1958. The memoria was dedicated later that year. The Middletown missile
site closed in 1963, and the monument was then moved to a site in front of the
headquarters building located near the entrance on Portland Road at the U.S.
Army Highlands Air Defense Site in Highlands, New Jersey.°

With the closing of the Nike Air Defense System nationwide and the
deactivation of the Highlands Air Defense Site in 1974, the Army decided to
move the monument to Guardian Park since Fort Hancock would be open to
the public as part of Gateway National Recreation Area.

The monument reads:

In Memoriam
22" May 1958

Sgt. Daniel J. Lavengood
Sgt. Jerome W. Mould

SP 3 Walter E. Berry

SP 3 William I. Cochran
PFC. Donald L. Marsh
PVT. Nicklos J. Composino

ORD. Corps Civilians

Joseph Arciere
Joseph F. Brokos
Lee A. Parker
Charles Romanow

Affixed to the base of this monument was avery heavy, possibly bronze,
rectangular plague, removed by Joe Boyle, Sandy Hook Maintenance Division
Building and Utilities Foreman, ¢.1983 and placed in the museum collection
(Catalog number GATE 907.10). Theinscription on the plagueis as follows,
“Nike Ajax Explosion/Battery B 526™ Missile Battalion/ Leonardo, New

® This information given by Jean Parker Maxson, eldest daughter of Lee A. Parker, civilian corps member
killed in May 22, 1958 Nike Ajax explosion at Leonardo base NY 53 in Middletown, NJ.
® Ibid.



Evolution of Guardian Park Plantings

Pictures taken on the day of the deactivation ceremony show original landscaping in
which ornamental shrubs can clearly be seen, the type of shrub is currently unknown.
The Army introduced a placement of the shrubs but did not regulate the size of each
individual shrub. Sandy Hook Maintenance Division later removed these plantings
between 1976-1980. Around 1982-1984, the Sandy Hook Maintenance Division planted
eight Autumn Olive Bushes along the west side of Guardian Park, which was alargely
open, grassy lawn area. Shortly thereafter, Maintenance planted seven wild rosebushes;
five currently remain.’

Recommendationsfor Rehabilitation and Restor ation of Guardian Park

About a quarter of Guardian Park’s original design remains. The necessary itemsfor a
restoration to the 1974 Guardian Park are as follows:

e Restoration of the corroded Nike Ajax Missile currently in museum storage and a

better system for mounting the missile.

Replacement of the Pack Howitzer Gun that was removed by the Army.

Replacement of the Flagpole.

Replace concrete missiles to flank the memorial.

Replicas of the original sheet metal insignias for the base of the Ajax planter.

New concrete bases for descriptive plagues to rest on.

Replicas of the brass descriptive plagues to be placed on the tops of the bases.

Removal of the current plantings and plant appropriate shrubbery in historically

accurate sites.

e Repainting the Nike Hercules Missile and priming the inside to prevent further
corrosion and replacing the black “U.S. Army” stenciling.

e Reseeding the lawn to refresh the park.

Findings

The original intentions of Guardian Park, “to provide future generations, especially the
visitors to the Gateway Recreation Area, with the opportunity to pause and reflect on the
contributions that the 16" ADA and its predecessors have made to this area and to the
defense of the United States,” in conjunction with recent park efforts to interpret the
importance of the Nike Missile era, lend support to the restoration of Guardian Park.
Visitors currently overlook this memorial dueto alack of visual appeal and the absence
of interpretation. Visitorsthat do take the time to look are met with aloss of significance
created by viewing parts of awhole. It isthefinal recommendation of this report that
Guardian Park’ s restoration becomes a priority. The areais perhaps one of the most
important locations in Fort Hancock for a number of reasons. It islocated at one of the
most trafficked intersections in the park, and serves as the current entrance to Fort
Hancock. In the near future, Guardian Park will become more of afoca point with the

" See maps and photographs in appendix.



completion of the Multiuse Path, the movement of the Visitor Center (to Barracks 25),
and the implementation of the Historic Leasing Program. The Guardian Park areais
dated to be a mgjor interchange for the Multiuse Path and will serve as an orientation site
with amap and directory for the organizations that occupy the buildingsin Fort Hancock
after the completion of the Historic Leasing Plan. Guardian Park should be
representative of the historic efforts at Fort Hancock as well the National Park Service's
efforts in interpreting and maintaining its resources.
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Top: Aerial view of Guardian Park Areac. 1970-1974.
Photo Shows the Nike Ajax missile pre-dates the rest of
Guardian Park.

Left: A close up view of the Nike Ajax missile and the
Hercules missile show their original “U.S. Army”
stenciling as well as give a close up view of the South
facing insignia of the 52" Air Defense Artillery Brigade
onthe Ajax base c. 1975-77.




E-—,_.F-..-..-.

r'_ l {

Top: View of the 1974 Deactivation Ceremony, taken from the north, shows four of the five main elements that
make up Guardian Park. Visible are the two missiles, the flagpole and the memoria to the Nike Ajax Explosion of
1958. The Bay can be seen in the background and provides orientation for the photograph.

Bottom: View of the 1974 Deactivation Ceremony, taken from the north, shows the flagpole in detail and also the
fifth main element. the Pack Howitzer. can be seen in part.
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Top: View of Guardian
Park at the 1974
Deactivation Ceremony.
The significance of this
picture isthe view of the
Nike Ajax base which
shows the east side and
the insignia of the 51%
ADA.

Bottom: Photograph from
the 1958 dedication of the
Nike Ajax explosion
memorial at the Chapel
Hill sitein Middletown,
NJ and the concrete
missiles that flanked it.




Top: View of wreath being laid in front of monument for the 1958 Nike Ajax explosion at the
Highlands Air Force Base in Highlands, NJ. Thisisthe monument’s second site. The concrete
missiles still flank the monument but more closely than at its Leonardo site.

Bottom: A view of one of the five Pack Howitzers fired at the Deactivation Ceremony in 1974.
The Army placed an identical gun at the east end of the cruciform sidewalk in Guardian Park to
represent the significance of conventional artillery as coastal defense.
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Top: View of Guardian Park from the
east shows the Nike Hercules without
its nose cone, and the monument
without the concrete missiles, dating
the pictureto c. 1979-1981. The
flagpole and the howitzer have been
removed. Also notablein this
photograph is the lack of any plantings
other than grass.

Bottom: 2003 Photograph of Guardian
Park from the south. The Nike Ajax no
longer standsin this photograph and
the insignias have been removed from
itsbase. Repainting of the Nike
Hercules concealsits“U.S. Army”
stenciling. The flagpole, the concrete
missiles and the howitzer are absent at
this date. Five wild rosebushes can be
seen in the picture these were planted
by the Sandy Hook Maintenance
Division, c1982-84.




Top: 2003 Photograph of the Nike Hercules missile. Photograph shows the deterioration of the
missile due to weathering.
Bottom: Rust on the Nike Hercules, 2003.
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Top: 2003 photograph of the cruciform sidewalk from center of Guardian Park toward
the north. The sidewalks remain in good condition other than some encroachment by
vegetation.

Bottom: 2003 Photograph of the Nike Ajax planter. The planter has some cracking and
loss of paint due to weathering.
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Appendix B-Cultural Resource Assessment of Guardian Park
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